





**OCTOBER 2021** 

# What Does the European Green Deal Mean for Africa?

Zainab Usman, Olumide Abimbola, and Imeh Ituen

# What Does the European Green Deal Mean for Africa?

Zainab Usman, Olumide Abimbola, and Imeh Ituen

© 2021 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieEndowment.org.

# Contents

Summary	1
The European Green Deal: A Vision to Combat Climate Change	7
Seven Implications of the EGD for Africa	9
Policy Recommendations	21
Knowledge Gaps	24
About the Authors	25
Acknowledgments	25
Abbreviations	26
Appendix 1: EGD Policy Areas	27
Appendix 2: Crude Oil Imports and Deliveries in the European Union (EU28) in 2019	28
Notes	29
Carnegie Endowment for International Peace	33

### **Summary**

On July 14, 2021, the European Commission adopted a set of intermediate proposals to cut greenhouse gas emissions by 55 percent from 1990 levels by 2030 as part of a broader European Green Deal (EGD). The EGD is a set of long-term policy initiatives that define the European Union's (EU) climate strategy to reach net zero emissions by 2050 and aim to make Europe the first mover in international climate policy. Toward this goal, the EGD provides a road map for a socioecological transition to a low-carbon future and the building blocks for a green economic growth strategy.

Its implications for Africa are multifaceted. Most prominently, a decline in European demand for fossil fuels alongside rising demand for cobalt, nickel, and other critical minerals for the energy transition will greatly affect global markets and, by implication, the economies of oil-dependent and mineral-rich African countries. The economy-wide effects of the EGD, however, extend beyond the energy transition. This paper identifies the implications of the EGD for African countries in seven main areas: agriculture, biodiversity, energy, critical raw materials (CRMs), circular economy, new technologies, and finance. It also recommends steps to orient the policy initiatives to Africa's development priorities.

#### Seven Implications of the EGD for Africa

• New agricultural standards. As part of its "Farm to Fork" policy package, the EU aims to become a leader in setting sustainable global food standards. Compliance with these standards as a condition for accessing the European market could constitute additional nontariff barriers for African agriculture exports to the EU. Still, an EU-Africa partnership can help combat agroecological challenges.

- EU-Africa biodiversity strategy. NaturAfrica is the EGD's biodiversity strategy to protect wildlife and ecosystems, provide local populations with economic opportunities in green sectors, and strengthen the links between biodiversity protection and Indigenous communities. To successfully design and implement NaturAfrica, Europe must take into account the human rights abuses and land dispossession that often accompany conservation initiatives. The initiative can complement existing programs such as the Pan-African Agenda on Ecosystem Restoration for Increased Resilience.
- Shifting demand from fossil fuels to cleaner energy sources. The EGD's energy strategy aims to secure affordable energy supply, increase clean energy, and replace fossil fuels in the carbon-intensive energy mix. In achieving these objectives, a European phaseout of oil by 2050 could lead to a decrease in oil demand and declining prices for African suppliers, particularly after 2030. The fossil fuel phaseout is already causing a decline in upstream investments by European development agencies, concessional lenders, and private financiers of hydrocarbon projects in Africa. Europe's plans to use decarbonized gas as a transition fuel would present some short-term opportunities for African gas producers. With an increasing European demand for green hydrogen, partnerships are being established with African countries through the European Clean Hydrogen Alliance to secure 40 gigawatts of hydrogen imports from non-EU countries by 2030.
- **Rising demand for critical raw materials.** The low-carbon energy strategies envisioned in the EGD will depend on the CRM inputs for clean energy and technologies. Consumption of these CRMs is projected to increase by a factor of four for graphite, five for cobalt, and eighteen for lithium by 2030; and by a factor of thirteen for graphite, fourteen for cobalt, and nearly sixty for lithium by 2050. Currently, the EU sources 28 percent of its barite needs from Morocco, 64 percent of bauxite from Guinea, 68 percent of cobalt and 36 percent of tantalum from the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), and about 90 percent of the platinum group metals (PGM) from South Africa. Other countries, such as Ghana, Zambia, and Zimbabwe, also have the potential to supply copper, PGM, and bauxite to Europe. The projected demand in CRMs creates opportunities for Africa to replace Asian supply chains. There are, however, risks of reinforcing technology dependencies for Africa, accelerating environmental devastation, compounding climate disruptions, and importing Europe's carbon emissions.
- **Creating a circular economy.** The EGD's circular economy action plan aims to reduce material throughput by reusing and recycling materials. The plan is meant to provide a guideline for all sectors, with action focusing on resource-intensive sectors such as textiles, construction, electronics, and plastics. For some sectors in African countries, this could present new economic opportunities, as relocalizing part of the circular economy value chain to African producers could strengthen manufacturing, allowing African businesses to engage in higher-value activities. It is important to

align the EU's circular economy plan with existing African initiatives, such as the African Circular Economy Alliance, which was founded by Nigeria, Rwanda, and South Africa.

- **Deployment of new technologies.** The EGD aims to scale commercial applications of breakthrough green technology innovations and create corresponding markets to secure an advantage over competitors in the United States and China. African countries will struggle to adopt these emerging green technologies, some of which are still very costly. However, competition between producers, especially the EU and China, could lead to early price decreases and could enable African countries to proactively negotiate skills, knowledge, and technology transfer as well as the localization of jobs around these new technologies. Around 35 percent of Horizon Europe, a 95.5-billion-euro (\$113.5 billion) research and innovation funding program from 2021 to 2027, is dedicated to climate research. There could be collaboration opportunities between stakeholders in industry and research communities in Europe and Africa.
- Financing the EGD. To achieve its 2030 emissions targets, the European Commission estimates that annual investments of 260 billion euros (\$309.4 billion) will be needed. In total, the EU aims to mobilize at least 1 trillion euros in sustainable investments over a decade through international carbon markets, the revision of the European emissions trading system, and a carbon border adjustment mechanism (CBAM). As the CBAM could impose costs on exporters from low-income countries, including those in Africa, such unintended consequences should be mitigated in consultation with those to be affected. While the EGD does not outline a spending plan, it is worth noting that the amount of climate funds from the European Commission and the EU's lending arm, the European Investment Bank (EIB), to developing countries has not increased from an average of around 5.7 billion euros (\$6.7 billion) since 2018. Neither has it shifted away from a preponderance of nonconcessional loans over grant financing by the EIB nor have both institutions' focuses shifted from climate mitigation initiatives toward adaptation and resilience. The focus has also been on wealthier, middle-income countries rather than low-income economies.

#### **Policy Recommendations**

The EGD is mainly an internal policy instrument, yet its potential global spillovers will reach African countries in view of the strong economic and historical ties between the continents. Such effects will be felt in the market for agriculture, fossil fuels, and other natural resources. The impacts will also occur through the channels of Europe's financial muscle, technologies, and standards.

No outcome is predetermined, however. In fact, the transition envisioned in the EGD offers the promise of overhauling EU-Africa relations from the donor-recipient orientation of the past toward a mutually beneficial partnership in the twenty-first century if the right steps are taken now. These steps include:

- Forging genuine partnerships in sourcing CRMs and energy supplies from Africa by building industrial capacity, localizing value chains, and sharing technologies. Clean energy hardware industries, such as battery and solar photovoltaic manufacturing plants, can be set up in mineral-rich countries, like the DRC, as the EU shifts from Chinese supply chains.
- Aligning areas of the EGD that directly affect Africa with the continent's own stated development priorities. These African priorities are outlined in continent-wide, subregional, or domestic policy documents. Overall, Europe should not use its financial muscle and technological standards to impose its foreign policy and geopolitical interests at the expense of Africa's own development aspirations.
- Matching the EU's stated principles around sustainability with actual volumes of climate financing to Africa. This climate financing should be separated from official development assistance and provided either as grants or at concessional rates to avoid saddling poor countries with unsustainable debt. The financing should also be rebalanced from its current heavy focus on climate mitigation toward climate adaptation and resilience.

To tap into the opportunities presented by the EGD and mitigate potential risks, African countries must clearly articulate and assert their own climate transition agendas. They should outline their own climate change priorities, considering their resource endowments, historical legacies, development strategies, and geopolitical interests, while also presenting clear demands of the EU around specific aspects of the EGD. Elements of these transition agendas can include:

- **Updating geological surveys** of their endowments of fossil fuels, CRMs, and renewable resources to help attract foreign direct investment (FDI).
- **Strengthening market-creating instruments** by updating local content laws, policies, and regulations to reflect the low-carbon transition and to cover the specificities of CRMs.
- Working closely with local private sectors to leverage new financial instruments emerging in the context of the EGD toward job creation, skills upgrading, technology adoption, and investments in research and development to power local innovation.
- **Developing their own overarching climate action strategy** by finalizing the African Union's climate action plan; updating sector-specific strategies in areas

such as mining, biodiversity, the circular economy, and agriculture; and developing common positions on managing the energy transition, especially the various aspects of the oncoming fossil fuel obsolescence in Europe.

Research communities have a role to play as well. There are knowledge gaps where further study is needed: on generating better data and conducting in-depth forecasting, conceptualizing a just transition for Africa attuned to the continent's realities, examining how to avoid replicating the technology dominance and dependency of the oil and gas era, and advocating for clarity on the allocation of EU climate financing across industries, sectors, and countries.

### The European Green Deal: A Vision to Combat Climate Change

The EGD is a roadmap for a socioecological transition to a low-carbon future and provides building blocks for a green economic strategy in Europe.<sup>1</sup> It comprises eight detailed policy areas (see appendix 1) as well as a European Climate Pact and a European Climate Law. The EGD aims to deliver on the European Commission's vision to reach net zero emissions of greenhouse gases by 2050, decouple economic growth from resource use, and leave no person or place behind. The EU aspires to be the first mover in a global race to define new sustainability standards, develop green technologies, and establish future markets. As an intermediate step toward achieving the EGD objectives by 2050, the European Commission adopted on July 14, 2021, the Fit for 55 package of policy proposals to cut emissions by at least 55 percent from 1990 levels by 2030.<sup>2</sup>

The emerging path toward a net zero carbon future as outlined in the EGD matters greatly for African countries. The EU is the world's third-largest economy after China and the United States, representing 16 percent of global gross domestic product (GDP) in purchasing power parity.<sup>3</sup> It is also one of the three largest actors in international trade, accounting for 15.6 percent of global imports and exports.<sup>4</sup> Therefore, reduced European demand for fossil fuels could depress global commodity prices, reduce the revenues of oil-dependent African countries, and disrupt their economies. At the same time, Europe's transition to a green future could benefit African countries that have important "green" minerals, like cobalt and nickel, in abundance. As the EU is Africa's largest trade partner—with a 28 percent share of both exports and imports with the continent—and is home to four of the ten economies that invested the most FDI in Africa between 2015 and 2019, Africa can expect other impacts as the EGD reshapes the EU economy, governance, and foreign policy.<sup>5</sup> This paper seeks to identify the implications of key EGD components for African countries. This analysis draws on the European Commission's communications published under the banner of the EU Green Deal and other communications published in this context. The analysis is structured around seven main areas: agriculture, biodiversity, energy, CRMs, circular economy, new technologies, and finance.

#### BOX 1. Africa in the EGD: The Numbers at Stake

- The African continent exports 16.5 billion euros (\$19.6 billion) worth of agriculture produce to the EU, with agri-food making up 16 percent of EU-Africa trade.
- In 2019, oil exports represented the largest share of EU-Africa trade, with the EU importing 842,362 million barrels of crude oil worth 46.7 billion euros (\$55.7 billion) from African countries.
- Africa is the fastest-growing region of gas production at an average growth rate of 5.6 percent per year, and, according to the International Energy Agency, it is expected to account for 295 billion cubic meters of global supplies in 2025. Europe's gas import requirements will remain stable until 2025 and will rise thereafter to supplement declining domestic gas production.
- Green hydrogen FDI from Europe to Africa could reach 75.6 billion euros (\$90 billion) by 2030.
- Europe will mobilize 1 trillion euros in sustainable investment by 2030—a significant part of it on research and development, and some in partnership with African stakeholders through Horizon Europe.
- The EU's consumption of CRMs for batteries, fuel cells, wind turbines, and photovoltaic cells (PVs) in renewables and electric vehicles (EVs) will increase by a factor of four for graphite, five for cobalt, and eighteen for lithium by 2030 and by a factor of thirteen for graphite, fourteen for cobalt, and nearly sixty for lithium by 2050.
- The EU currently sources 28 percent of its barite needs from Morocco, 64 percent of bauxite from Guinea, 68 percent of cobalt and 36 percent of tantalum from the DRC, and about 90 percent of PGM from South Africa. Other countries, such as Zambia, Zimbabwe, and Ghana also have the potential to supply copper, PGM, and bauxite to the EU.
- With 28 percent of the world's registered patents in environmentally related innovations, the EU is a leader in the green technological transition.
- In 2018, the ten countries that received the most climate financing from EU institutions included only three in Africa, all of which— Cameroon (82 million euros or \$97 million), Egypt (208 million euros or \$247 million), and Morocco (429 million euros or \$510 million)—are middle-income countries.

# **Seven Implications of the EGD for Africa**

#### New Agricultural Standards: Farm to Fork Strategy

The farm-to-fork strategy is a policy package that aims to promote an agroecological, healthy, and affordable food system in the EU. It is a cornerstone of the EGD. As part of the strategy, the EU seeks to promote new global food standards with the aim of becoming a standard setter for sustainability.<sup>6</sup> Agriculture is one of the main export sectors in Africa: it absorbs about 50 percent of the labor force and accounts for 40 percent of GDP.<sup>7</sup> Agri-food trade between Africa and Europe makes up approximately 16 percent of total exports trade with Europe, amounting to about 16.5 billion euros (\$19.6 billion). Cocoa makes up 33.4 percent of the trade, while edible fruits and nuts represent 24.3 percent.<sup>8</sup>

Requiring compliance with food regulations as a condition for accessing the EU market is a strong incentive for exporting countries to adapt to the EU's new standards.<sup>9</sup> However, it will constitute an additional nontariff barrier for African countries. Currently, under the EU's Common Agricultural Policy (CAP), EU farmers receive up to 50 percent of their income as direct payments. This has, in part, helped to make the EU the leading global exporter of agri-food and given its farmers a competitive advantage over their African peers. Thus, new food regulations under the EDG will further burden African countries, since they do not enjoy the CAP subsidy and are already challenged with meeting European market rules of origin as well as sanitary and phytosanitary standards. As one of the core EU policies, the CAP is key to helping the union achieve its ambitions in the agricultural sector. The reformed CAP stipulates that 30 percent of the overall EU budget must contribute toward climate objectives.<sup>10</sup> A study by the Center for Development Research in Germany suggests that stronger environmental and climate guidelines could dampen European agricultural exports to Africa.<sup>11</sup>

The EU can nevertheless partner with Africa in its efforts to combat agroecological challenges. The African agricultural sector faces serious threats from both climate change and land degradation. If land degradation continues at the current pace, more than half of the cultivated agricultural area in Africa will be unusable by 2050.<sup>12</sup> African countries can adapt to and even combat the manifestations of climate change with the use of agroecological technologies. The EU can provide financial and technological assistance to complement Africa's effort. One avenue to channel such support can be through the African Union's Comprehensive African Agricultural Development Program, which aims to address Africa's agroecological threats and accelerate adaptation to new standards.<sup>13</sup>

#### NaturAfrica: The EU's African Biodiversity Strategy

The EGD's biodiversity strategy has at its core a net gain commitment to give back to nature more than is taken away. This principle commits the EU to putting at least 30 percent of the land and 30 percent of the sea in the EU under protection toward reversing biodiversity loss.

Biodiversity is one of the few policy areas in the EGD with a defined EU-Africa strategy. The EGD biodiversity strategy aims to establish green alliances with African partners and to launch NaturAfrica. This strategy seeks to protect wildlife and ecosystems while providing local populations with economic opportunities in green sectors. Europe also states its intention to strengthen the links between biodiversity protection and the role of Indigenous peoples and local communities.

NaturAfrica is a timely initiative for the African continent. As temperatures are expected to rise faster in Africa than in the rest of the world, it is estimated that climate change could result in the loss of over 50 percent of some birds and other animal species by 2100.<sup>14</sup> Climate change could also result in 20 to 30 percent reductions in the productivity of African lakes, with serious impacts on the people whose livelihoods depend on the lakes' flora and fauna. In the Lake Chad region, for example, the impact of climate change has contributed to a significant deterioration of the natural ecosystem of the lake, thus helping to fuel violent clashes between herdsmen and farmers as well as religious extremism.<sup>15</sup>

In designing and implementing NaturAfrica, Europe should align more closely with African realities and with the continent's own biodiversity priorities. These realities include the need to address what some civil society groups have described as longstanding problems of human rights abuses and land dispossession associated with a conservation approach.<sup>16</sup> These problems persist in part because both host governments and external actors have various incentives to engage in activities that contribute to biodiversity loss. A leaked European Commission document details the NaturAfrica program's aim to promote global alliances, such as the new global coalition for biodiversity made up of national parks, aquariums, botanic gardens, zoos, and science and natural history museums.<sup>17</sup> A global biodiversity strategy with this focus could further entrench problematic conservation strategies. Instead, efforts should be made to complement and reinforce existing initiatives on the continent. One of these is the Pan-African Action Agenda on Ecosystem Restoration for Increased Resilience, which was endorsed at the African Ministerial Summit on Biodiversity in November 2018 and which offers policy measures, cooperation mechanisms, and practical actions on land and ecosystem restoration in Africa.<sup>18</sup>

#### **Energy: Shifting Demand From Fossil Fuels to Cleaner Sources**

A central aspect of the EGD is a fundamental change to Europe's energy production and consumption in achieving critical objectives. These objectives include securing an affordable energy supply that meets the needs of European consumers and businesses. Scaling up the production and uptake of clean energy from renewable sources to replace fossil fuels toward the goal of climate neutrality by 2050 is another objective. Overhauling Europe's energy systems is crucial to the EGD, as energy production and consumption account for more than 75 percent of the EU's greenhouse gas emissions. Achieving these twin objectives will entail a European phaseout of oil by 2050, the use of natural gas as a transition fuel, and a stronger role for green hydrogen in the energy mix.<sup>19</sup>

#### Fossil fuel phaseout.

The European Commission's main strategy is to end consumption of fossil fuels, even as the EGD outlines different measures for restructuring the transport and energy sectors. In the energy sector, for example, coal will be rapidly phased out and replaced by renewables and decarbonized gas as a transition fuel.<sup>20</sup> In the transport sector, the commission will examine road pricing mechanisms, extend the European emissions trading system to the maritime sector, and reduce or eradicate emissions trading allowances and current tax exemptions for aviation and maritime fuels specifically.<sup>21</sup> The EU is also planning to collaborate with global partners for the development of international carbon markets and to provide further financial incentives for fossil fuel phaseout.

The implications of an EU fossil fuel phaseout would be significant for African countries. In 2019, Africa supplied the EU28 (before Brexit) with more than 22 percent of its crude oil imports. This was 842.36 million barrels of oil, and it totaled 46.7 billion euros (\$55.7 billion) in revenue for African countries (see appendix 2). Crude oil exports to the EU and imports of refined petroleum products from the EU represent the largest share of import and export trade between Africa and the EU.<sup>22</sup> As the EGD takes force, the nature and volume of this trade in crude oil and refined products will also change.

The volume of refined products that African countries could import from the EU will fall, but this is unlikely to adversely reduce energy use in Africa. The shortfalls can be offset by a ramp up of domestic refining capacity in Algeria, Angola, Egypt, Nigeria, and Uganda, among other countries, where more than twenty new facilities are set to begin production from 2022 onward.<sup>23</sup> Major oil exporters like Algeria, Libya, and Nigeria, which together account for more than 18 percent of Europe's crude oil imports (see appendix 2), are at risk of experiencing steep declines in their export revenues, however. Compared with Saudi Arabia's fiscal break-even price for 2021 of 64.01 euros (\$76.20) per barrel, Nigeria's high break-even price of 120.97 euros (\$144) per barrel means it will experience a decline in demand earlier than countries or regions with lower production costs.<sup>24</sup> Whether alternative markets in the East (like China and India) could step in to absorb the excess oil supplies from African producers remains unclear, as these Eastern countries also plan to reduce their carbon emissions. Additionally, Angola is the only African country that features among the top ten oil suppliers to China.<sup>25</sup>

The fossil fuel phaseout is already causing declining investments in existing and new hydrocarbon projects in Africa. Nongovernmental actors and activist shareholders are intensifying efforts to stop all new upstream investments in coal as well as oil and gas projects in 2021. European development agencies and concessional lenders are under similar pressure, and in many cases they have already banned or set a date to end investment in upstream fossil fuels. For example, the EIB's 2019 Energy Lending Policy announced a total phaseout of all projects reliant on unabated fossil fuels, supporting only those projects grandfathered in through 2021.<sup>26</sup> Natural gas, however, remains a contentious gray area. A recent court ruling in the Netherlands ordered the world's top oil and gas trader, Royal Dutch Shell, to accelerate its transition plans by reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 45 percent by 2030 from 2019 levels.<sup>27</sup> The French oil giant Total has struggled to secure financing from European lenders for 2.9 billion euros (\$3.5 billion) for its East African Crude Oil Pipeline, which is aimed at transporting oil from the region to international markets via Tanzania, because of intense advocacy by environmental groups.<sup>28</sup>

#### Gas as a transition fuel.

The EU's goal is to base its power sector on renewable energy sources, with decarbonized gas complementing the efforts as a transition fuel. For gas to serve this purpose and be viable in the medium term, decarbonization of its extraction, processing, and use will be necessary. There is already a debate on the feasibility of decarbonizing gas at scale.<sup>29</sup> Countries that are able to produce gas in cost-effective and commercially viable ways, even as renewable energy sources expand, could benefit during this transition phase.

Current debates appear to indicate that the gas phaseout will be much slower than that of oil in the EU. While gas production in the region has been falling and will maintain that trajectory—because of factors like the EIB's decision to stop supporting new fossil fuels, including natural gas projects, by the end of 2021—demand for gas has been stable, and gas will continue to be important to the energy demands of the steel, chemical, and heavy-duty transport industries in which immediate electrification is difficult. Figure 1 shows the different trajectories of gas production and import requirements between 2015 and 2050.

Rising gas import needs for Europe create short-term market opportunities for African countries with appropriate infrastructure in place. By 2050, Europe will have the lowest share of global gas production, largely because of production cuts in the northwestern countries of Norway, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and Denmark. Africa is the fastest-growing region of gas production at around 5.6 percent per year, and the continent is projected to supply about 295 billion cubic meters of gas in 2025.<sup>30</sup> By 2050, Africa's share of global gas production is projected to reach 10.1 percent, up from its 6.4 percent share in 2019, compared with Europe's 1.3 percent in 2050 (see figure 1b). In addition to Algeria, Nigeria, and Angola, which already export gas to Europe, other exporting countries could include Equatorial Guinea and new producers such as Mozambique and Tanzania.

As the EGD positions natural gas as a transition fuel, however, cost-intensive long-term investments could create various risks to African gas producers that are major suppliers to the European market. The risk that hydrocarbon assets become stranded in these African countries looms large. Then, of course, the environmental impact of sustained gas extraction on food and water security, as well as biodiversity, cannot be ruled out.



#### Figure 1. Projections on European and African Gas Production

Source: Sitowise, "Nord Stream 2 Annual Monitoring Report 2018," May 2019, https://www.nord-stream2.com/media/documents/pdf/en/2019/06/nord-stream-2-environmental-and-technical-monitoring-annual-report-2018.pdf; and Gas Exporting Countries Forum, "GECF Global Gas Outlook 2050 Synopsis," February 2021, https://www.gecf. org/\_resources/files/events/gecf-to-unveil-latest-edition-of-flagship-publication-global-gas-outlook-2050/2020edition-of-the-gecf-global-gas-outlook-2050.pdf.

#### Growing role for green hydrogen.

Green hydrogen, or hydrogen that is produced by employing renewable energy–based electricity such as water electrolysis, takes on a special role in the EGD. Countries with high solar and wind potentials could benefit from Europe's upcoming demand for green hydrogen and position themselves as suppliers. To support the development of a hydrogen industry in Europe, the EU has established the European Clean Hydrogen Alliance, whose strategy includes securing 40 gigawatts of hydrogen imports from non-EU countries by 2030.<sup>31</sup>

To build the necessary strategic partnerships, the EU and the African Union have launched interregional energy initiatives on African hydrogen potentials. The most notable is the Africa-EU Energy Partnership (AEEP). According to the AEEP, green hydrogen FDI in Africa from Europe could reach 75.6 billion euros (\$90 billion) by 2030. According to the AEEP's analysis, capturing even a modest market share could be transformative for African countries.<sup>32</sup> By blending hydrogen with natural gas or converting the infrastructure, oil-producing countries could use parts of the existing infrastructure and energy partnerships to build up hydrogen production.

Some African countries are already developing strategies to capitalize on the opportunities to export green hydrogen to Europe. Morocco has established a National Hydrogen Commission and announced the development of its Green Hydrogen Roadmap.<sup>33</sup> In 2020, the commission signed a declaration of intent with Germany to finance the development of a project that the Moroccan Solar Energy Agency proposed to produce green hydrogen in what will be Africa's first industrial green hydrogen plant research platform. South Africa has also established Hydrogen South Africa, a hydrogen research and development strategy, with the goal of spurring innovation along the entire hydrogen value chain, including fuel cell technologies. There is also a lively debate regarding how to ensure that South Africa becomes an exporter of green hydrogen, with investment in the development of blue hydrogen as a bridge to the carbon-neutral green hydrogen.<sup>34</sup> Member countries of the Southern African Development Community and the Economic Community of West African States have further partnered with the German government to look for viable candidates for green hydrogen production and export from Africa.<sup>35</sup>

In the long term, demand for clean energy will increase opportunities for resource-rich countries in Africa and elsewhere to produce low-carbon secondary goods for export. With its rich iron ore resources and significant production potential for green hydrogen, Côte D'Ivoire could, for instance, increase its production of energy and material-intensive goods such as steel.

Exporting green hydrogen as a primary resource also comes with a set of risks, however. For example, reliance on imported technologies could reinforce technological dependence even as green hydrogen production heaps pressure on land and water resources.

#### **Rising Demand for Critical Raw Materials**

Even though the EGD envisions decoupling growth from resource consumption, it is critical to have access to new raw materials that are essential inputs in clean energy and technologies such as solar PV panels, wind turbines, battery storage, and EVs that require more minerals to build than their fossil fuel-based counterparts. These raw materials are crucial to realizing the energy strategies outlined in the EGD. Both the World Bank and the International Energy Agency project that growth in the use of low-carbon technologies will increase the demand for certain CRMs. To meet the goals of the Paris Agreement by 2040, for example, mineral demand for use in EVs and battery storage will grow at least thirty times. Demand for lithium will grow over forty times, while demand for graphite, cobalt, and nickel will grow by about twenty to twenty-five times. The expansion of electricity networks also means that copper demand for grid lines will more than double over the same period.<sup>36</sup>

The EU lists thirty CRMs, some of which are present in Africa.<sup>37</sup> The EU currently sources 28 percent of its barite and 24 percent of phosphate rock needs from Morocco, 64 percent of its bauxite from Guinea, 68 percent of its cobalt and 36 percent of its tantalum from the DRC, and about 90 percent of its PGM from South Africa (see map 1). Ghana, Zambia, and Zimbabwe also have the potential to supply copper, PGM, and bauxite to the EU. The EU's consumption of such CRMs for batteries, fuel cells, wind turbines, and PVs in renewables and EVs will increase by a factor of four for graphite, five for cobalt, and eighteen for lithium by 2030 and by a factor of thirteen for graphite, fourteen for cobalt, and nearly sixty for lithium by 2050.<sup>38</sup>



MAP 1. African Suppliers of CRMs to the EU

Source: Adapted from European Commission, "Critical Raw Materials Resilience: Charting a Path Towards Greater Security and Sustainability," COM/2020/474 final, September 3, 2020, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0474&from=EN.

Despite data gaps on resource reserves, it is evident that Africa possesses significant potential as a major supplier of CRMs.<sup>39</sup> African countries may experience increased demand for raw materials for green technologies as the EU seeks to reduce its dependence on Asian supply chains for the materials' sourcing and processing. These opportunities carry their own risks for the continent, however. Risks loom large of reproducing past extractive relationships in which African countries are consigned to the role of raw material suppliers without local-izing benefits like high-skilled jobs that come from technology diffusion and developing manufacturing capacities. There could also be environmental and social consequences of material extraction in terms of pollution, habitat destruction, and resource depletion that exacerbate existing fragility. Finally, without proactive mitigation, the EU could export its own carbon emissions to these countries.

#### **Creating a Circular Economy**

To reduce dependencies and secure adequate CRM supply, the EU seeks to diversify its supplies, improve resource efficiency, substitute critical materials, and increase resource circularity. Beyond reducing resource dependencies, creating a circular economy—which is another key policy area of the EGD—aims to reduce material throughput by reusing and recycling materials. This strategy aims to reduce the adverse environmental impacts of processing materials on water and land resources while contributing to several other goals central to the EGD, which include reducing greenhouse gas emissions, increasing energy security, and reducing biodiversity loss. The circular economy action plan provides a guideline for all sectors, with action focusing on resource-intensive sectors such as textiles, construction, electronics, and plastics.

The European Commission also seeks to stop exporting waste outside of the EU. European and African waste markets are linked intricately. The reduction of waste trade could have a wide range of impacts, some negative, on African countries. Items sent to African markets are used either directly, after refurbishment, or as scrap materials. As such, economic activities in the industries and small businesses using these materials could be reduced by a circular reshaping of resource flows. Nevertheless, this could present new economic opportunities for some other sectors. Relocalizing part of the global value chains to African producers could strengthen the manufacturing sector, thereby opening new opportunities for African businesses to engage in higher-value activities. If this transition is well managed, it could have positive GDP effects driven by a combination of higher consumer spending, higher investment, and improvements in the trade balance. Existing African initiatives on the circular economy, such as the African Circular Economy Alliance, which was founded by Nigeria, Rwanda, and South Africa, can be built upon by both EU and African stakeholders.<sup>40</sup>

#### **Deployment of New Technologies**

To keep production systems aligned with the climate neutrality objective, the EGD aims to develop the first commercial applications of breakthrough technologies and create corresponding markets. The EGD thus seeks to foster the deployment of technologies and infrastructure such as smart grids, energy storage, carbon capture storage, carbon capture storage and utilization, clean hydrogen networks, and other alternative fuels.<sup>41</sup>

With 28 percent of the world's registered patents in environmentally related innovations coming from Europe, the EU is a leader in the green technological transition.<sup>42</sup> Europe is home to leading wind turbine manufacturers as well as major players in green production, auto electrification, the circular economy, and hydrogen implementation.<sup>43</sup> Germany, in particular, is promoting green hydrogen and has a strong portfolio of electrolyzer producers such as Siemens, ThyssenKrupp, and Sunfire.<sup>44</sup> Having learned from its experience with PV manufacturing—a technology developed in Europe at a high cost but later produced at more competitive costs by China—the EU aims to maintain its green technology advantage in scaling commercial applications of its innovations.

As the low-carbon transition accelerates, African countries will be under pressure to adopt emerging green technologies, some of which are still very costly. Competition between producers, especially the EU and China, could nevertheless lead to early price decreases and provide African countries with opportunities to proactively negotiate skills, knowledge, and technology transfer as well as the localization of jobs around these new technologies. Partnership between Africa and Europe could drive down prices just by the sheer size of the combined markets, contributing to an economic global public good—if investments are carefully made. As part of its contribution to research and development, much of it technical, the EU has earmarked about 35 percent of Horizon Europe—its key research and innovation funding program from 2021 to 2027 that is worth €95.5 billion (\$113.5 billion)—as contributions to climate objectives. As some of the funding is designated for climate-related technology and policy projects in African countries, this has relevance for African stakeholders, especially the private sector and research communities.<sup>45</sup>

#### **Financing the European Green Deal**

To achieve its 2030 emissions targets, the European Commission estimates that annual investments of 260 billion euros (\$309 billion) will be needed.<sup>46</sup> In total, the European Green Deal Investment Plan, also known as the Sustainable Europe Investment Plan (SEIP), aims to mobilize at least 1 trillion euros (\$1.1 trillion) in sustainable investments by 2030. One of the ways it aims to generate these investments is through the development of international carbon markets and the revision of the EU Emissions Trading System. Although the EGD does not outline a spending plan, the activities of the commission and the EIB illustrate how it distributes climate funds to developing countries, including those in Africa.

#### EU Emissions Trading System.

About 20 percent of the revenues from the EU Emissions Trading System will be allocated to the SEIP.<sup>47</sup> In total, nearly three-quarters of the SEIP will come from EU budgets and from the EIB, while at least a quarter will be mobilized from the private sector. To sustain

the flow of investment, the EGD aims to mobilize the public and private sectors. As green bonds will become increasingly important financing assets, the EU is looking to establish a uniform green bond standard within the EU. The European Commission has stated that the EU should partner with Africa on green finance.<sup>48</sup> For African countries, green bonds can present an opportunity to finance sustainability-driven investments from external sources. This is especially needed, as Africa's green bond market trails those of other regions.<sup>49</sup>

#### Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism.

Even though it is not strictly a financing mechanism, the CBAM will generate some revenue for the EU.<sup>50</sup> The main goal of CBAM, though, is to prevent carbon leakage by placing a carbon price on certain products imported into the EU. In the case of different ambition levels between the EU and its trading partners, the CBAM will not only prevent carbon leakage but also help Europe avoid negative effects on its domestic and international market competitiveness. The CBAM will thus allow the EU to protect itself against carbon leakage—either because companies are relocating their production to other regions or because European products are replaced by more carbon-intensive but cheaper imports—as well as generate additional revenues.

Efforts are being focused on ensuring that the CBAM adheres to World Trade Organization rules.<sup>51</sup> As the mechanism could create unintended consequences, such as additional costs for exporters and attendant economic risks for African countries in particular, proactive risk mitigation measures should be taken. An study released by the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development on July 14 estimates that exports by developing countries would be reduced by 1.4 percent if the plan were implemented with a tax of \$44 per metric ton of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.<sup>52</sup> The African countries whose exports of aluminum, cement, iron, and steel will be exposed to impacts of the CBAM include Algeria, Egypt, Mozambique, and South Africa, according to the report.

Consultations with those to be affected by the CBAM are a good start. In a joint statement, the governments of Brazil, South Africa, India, and China identified the potential problems that a unilateral CBAM might create.<sup>53</sup> The concerns they raise will find resonance across other African countries.

#### Climate financing for Africa.

Although the EGD does not outline a spending plan, the separate climate financing activities of the EU via the European Commission and the European Development Fund, along with the EIB, are illustrative. These data provide limited insights for various reasons, including incomplete reporting by most countries (such as reporting either commitments or disbursements but not both). Furthermore, reporting by multilaterals, including EU institutions, is not standardized. The discrepancy between commitments and disbursements of climate finance from the EU (highlighted in figure 2) is one example of the consequence of such limited data. The rate of disbursement for 2010–2018 (shown in figure 2) was constructed using officially reported disbursements from the EU (not the EIB) compared with official

Figure 2. Rate of Disbursement of Climate Financing From the EU as a Percentage of Commitments, 2010–2018



Source: Act Alliance EU, "Falling Short: Seven Ways in Which the EU Should Improve its Climate Support to Developing Countries," 2020, https://actalliance.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Falling-Short-Seven-ways-in-which-the-EU-could-improve-its-climate-support-to-developing-countries.pdf.

commitments, although the total disbursement figures are likely not comprehensive. The actual rate of disbursement is likely higher than what is shown in figure 2, though the lack of proper reporting makes it difficult to ascertain the exact amount and can undermine trust.

The EU has so far provided grant funding. For example, the Global Climate Change Alliance Plus initiative for least developed and small island countries has provided 737.5 million euros (\$872.8 million) over its first and second phases (2007–2014 and 2014–2020, respectively). The EIB, on the other hand, has done its financing via nonconcessional loans. Furthermore, in the EU's new long-term budget, about 30 percent of the 79.46 billion euros (\$94 billion) earmarked for 2021–2027 will be devoted to scaling up efforts on climate change, although further details are not provided.<sup>54</sup>

A breakdown of the distribution of climate financing from the EU and the EIB to all developing countries in 2013–2019 yields four important insights. First, grant financing has been leveling off, at around 5.7 billion euros (\$6.7 billion) per annum from 2017 into 2019 (see figure 3a). In the EU, this climate financing is increasingly being integrated with official development assistance.<sup>55</sup> Second, most of the climate financing by the EIB is in the form of loans at market rates rather than grants. Other than 7 percent equity (counted as grant equivalent), all of the EIB's activities are loan based, and of those loans, only 8 percent are concessional; the total grant equivalence share for the EIB's financing in 2018 was 11 percent, according to ACT Alliance EU. Third, there is a disproportionate focus on financing mitigation measures, despite urgent needs to support developing countries in building

their adaptability and resilience to climate change. Nearly 60 percent of EU funds go to climate mitigation. The volume and distribution of this financing are insufficient to meet the vast needs of developing countries on climate action. For example, a climate change–related drought is already evident in the southern areas of Madagascar, causing severe hunger and resulting in people subsisting on wild leaves, locusts, and raw red cactus fruits.<sup>56</sup>

# Figure 3. Climate Financing of the European Commission and the European Investment Bank





C. DISTRIBUTION OF EIB FINANCING ALONE ON CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION AND MITIGATION

Source: Act Alliance EU, "Falling Short: Seven Ways in Which the EU Should Improve its Climate Support to Developing Countries," 2020, https://actalliance.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Falling-Short-Seven-waysin-which-the-EU-could-improve-its-climate-support-to-developing-countries.pdf; and European Commission, "International Climate Finance," accessed October 8, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/internationalaction-climate-change/international-climate-finance\_en.

Recipient Country	Total Received in 2018 (millions of euros)		
India	430		
Morocco	429		
Serbia	320		
Turkey	244		
Egypt	208		
Argentina	155		
Ukraine	119		
Uzbekistan	115		
Bangladesh	110		
Cameroon	82		

#### Table 1. Top Ten Recipient Countries of Climate Finance From EU Institutions, 2018

Source: Act Alliance EU, "Falling Short: Seven Ways in Which the EU Should Improve its Climate Support to Developing Countries," 2020, https://actalliance.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Falling-Short-Seven-ways-in-whichthe-EU-could-improve-its-climate-support-to-developing-countries.pdf.

Finally, EU climate financing disproportionately goes to middle-income countries rather than low-income economies. In 2018, only 14 percent of climate financing from EU institutions (including the commission, European Development Fund, and the EIB) went to the least-developed countries, compared with 23 percent to upper-middle-income countries. Interestingly, three European countries were among the top ten recipients of climate finance from EU institutions in 2018 (see table 1). Only three of the ten were in Africa: Morocco, Egypt, and Cameroon, which received, respectively, 429 million euros (\$510 million), 208 million euros (\$247 million), and 82 million euros (\$97 million). The large gap between the financing received by Egypt and by Cameroon alone highlights the need for setting new modalities for providing more climate financing to Africa.

### **Policy Recommendations**

The EGD presents policies and visions for a transition to a green economy in Europe. While it is mainly an internal policy instrument, its significant potential global impacts make it effectively a foreign policy strategy that affects African countries. The strong economic and historical ties with the African continent ensure that the reorganization of European markets for agriculture, fossil fuels, and other natural resources envisioned by the EGD will affect Africa. These impacts will occur through the channels of Europe's financial muscle, technologies, and standards; the EU (which then included the United Kingdom) provided 21.9 billion euros (\$25.9 billion) in official development aid to Africa in 2019.

Yet these outcomes are not predetermined. In fact, the EGD offers the promise of overhauling EU-Africa relations toward a mutually beneficial partnership. To realize this promise, Europe would have to treat African countries as partners, consult African stakeholders on the elements of the EGD that could disrupt the continent's economies and development priorities, and deploy European financing and technologies in a sustainable manner. African countries, for their own part, must also prepare for such a partnership on the EGD, rather than for aid dependency, by taking steps individually and collectively.

#### **Reorienting EU-Africa Relations Toward Partnership and Sustainability**

The transition envisioned in the EGD offers the promise of overhauling EU-Africa relations from the donor-recipient orientation of the past toward a mutually beneficial partnership—if the right steps are taken now. These steps include:

- Forging genuine partnerships in sourcing raw materials and energy supplies from Africa by building industrial capacity, localizing value chains, and sharing technologies. These include tapping into Africa's high solar radiation and wind energy potentials, geographical proximity to Europe, and longstanding energy supply relations.<sup>57</sup> Agriculture, biodiversity protection, the circular economy, and clean energy technologies are further areas in which useful EU-Africa partnerships can be built around upgrading knowledge and skills, localizing value chains, and strengthening industrial capacity. Specifically, clean energy hardware industries such as battery and solar PV manufacturing plants can be set up in mineral-rich countries like the DRC as the EU tries to shift away from Chinese supply chains.
- Aligning areas of the EGD that directly affect Africa with the continent's own development priorities. This alignment would help determine whether the EGD fulfills its promise of reorienting EU-Africa relations and prevents policy imposition. European decisionmakers should therefore consult African stakeholders on their aspirations and plans as outlined in continent-wide, subregional, or domestic policy documents. These include the AU's Comprehensive African Agricultural Development Program on agroecological threats, the Pan-African Agenda on Ecosystem Restoration for Increased Resilience on protecting biodiversity, and the Africa Mining Vision on mineral resources. Overall, Europe should not use its financial muscle and technological standards to impose its foreign policy and geopolitical interests that are at odds with Africa's own development aspirations.

Matching the EU's stated principles to promote sustainability with increased climate financing to Africa provided at concessional rates and oriented toward adaptation. Climate financing should be conducted separately from the provision of official development assistance. Integrating climate financing with this assistance risks ignoring the existing development challenges in poor countries, with consequences for overall well being on the African continent. To avoid burdening Africa's low-income countries with unsustainable debt, more of the EU's climate financing should be packaged in the form of grants; for instance, the grant equivalence share of financing from the EIB can be scaled up to at least 50 percent. If loans are necessary, they should be provided at highly concessional rates. This allocation of climate finance to Africa should be rebalanced from its current heavy focus on climate mitigation toward climate adaptation and resilience. This can include resilient transport infrastructure, forest and soil conservation, and stronger natural resource management, as the EU's Global Climate Change Alliance Plus has already achieved in Togo and Tanzania.<sup>58</sup> Africa's emissions of greenhouse gases are still a fraction of those of developed countries.

#### **Positioning African Countries to Assert Their Climate Transition Agendas**

To tap into the opportunities presented by the EGD and to mitigate potential risks, African countries must clearly articulate and assert their own climate transition agendas. They should, individually and collectively, outline their climate change priorities considering their resource endowments, development strategies, historical legacies, and geopolitical interests, while also presenting clear demands of the EU around specific aspects of the EGD that affect them. Some elements to make up these transition agendas can include the following.

- Update geological surveys of resource endowments. African countries should map and update their resource reserves for fossil fuels, CRMs, and renewables. They can also tap into development partners in these processes. An example is the ongoing H2Atlas-Africa, a joint project between countries in the Economic Community of West African States and Southern African Development Community and Germany's Federal Ministry of Education and Research to explore green hydrogen production potentials in the subregions. Resource mapping can help attract FDI flows and help position African countries to capture some market share for green hydrogen supplies to Europe and some of the estimated 75.6 billion euros (\$90 billion) worth of investments.
- Strengthen market-creating instruments. African countries should update local content laws, policies, and regulations to reflect the low-carbon transition and to cover the specificities of CRMs and renewable resources like green hydrogen. An agenda to update local content requirements should aim to achieve, among other objectives, knowledge, skills and technology transfer, the localization of jobs, and forward and backward linkages to the rest of the economy.

- Secure financing for innovation and industry. African policymakers should work closely with the local private sector to leverage new financial instruments emerging in the context of the EGD toward job creation, skills upgrading, and technology adoption. Such collaborations can also secure funding for vital research and development to power local innovation.
- Update national and regional strategies. Finally, African countries should develop their own overarching vision around climate action. At the continental level, it is imperative to finalize the African Union's climate action plan, which sets common principles for member states. Sector-specific strategies in areas such as mining, biodiversity, the circular economy, and agriculture should be updated. Africa should also develop common continent-wide or subregional positions on managing the energy transition, especially the various aspects of the oncoming fossil fuel obsolescence in Europe.

### **Knowledge Gaps**

While this paper has identified some of the possible implications that the EGD will have for Africa and how it could reshape EU-Africa relations, some significant knowledge gaps remain and further research is needed.

- Generating better data on relevant sectors and conducting in-depth forecasting. This will entail quantifying and modeling the highlighted issues at continent-wide, subregional, and country levels toward helping policymakers have a clear understanding of what is at stake. Specific topics can include modeling CBAM impacts on agriculture, oil and gas, and merchandise exports from African countries to the EU; generating better data on climate financing; and quantifying changes to investment flows in hydrocarbons and CRM projects due to shifting European demand.
- **Conceptualizing a just transition for Africa.** African scholars and decisionmakers should design a just climate transition attuned to the continent's realities to provide a framework for domestic policies and relations with external partners, such as the EU. Such a conceptualization would marry Africa's development needs around quality jobs, sustained growth, and economic transformation with addressing climate change.
- Avoiding new technology dependencies. Extensive research is needed to examine how to avoid replicating the technology dominance and dependency of the oil and gas era, especially around hydrogen and CRMs.

• **Transparency on the allocation of EU climate financing.** There should be more publicly available information on the mobilization and allocation of EU climate financing across industries, sectors, and countries in comparison to commitments under the 2015 Paris Agreement. In-depth assessments of the risks and opportunities of Eurobonds for African countries will also be necessary. Further research can help outline steps to de-risking African economies to attract investments in gas projects that involve decarbonized production and green hydrogen, among other areas.

### **About the Authors**

**Zainab Usman** is director of the Africa Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace in Washington, DC.

Olumide Abimbola is executive director of the Africa Policy Research Institute in Berlin.

**Imeh Ituen** is a research associate in the Faculty of Business, Economics, and Social Sciences at the University of Hamburg.

# Acknowledgments

The authors extend their thanks to Alexander Csanadi for research assistance.

# **Abbreviations**

AEEP	Africa-EU Energy Partnership				
САР	(EU) Common Agricultural Policy				
CBAM	(EU) Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism				
CRM	critical raw material				
DRC	Democratic Republic of the Congo				
EGD	European Green Deal				
EIB	European Investment Bank				
EU	European Union				
EVs	electric vehicles				
FDI	foreign direct investment				
GDP	gross domestic product				
PGM	platinum group metals				
PVs	photovoltaic cells				
SEIP	Sustainable Europe Investment Plan				

### **Appendix 1: EGD Policy Areas**

#### **Biodiversity**

European Commission, "EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030: Bringing Nature Back into Our Lives," 2020, https://benoit-biteau. eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/BDS-Leak-15052020.pdf.

#### **Clean Energy**

European Commission, "European Clean Hydrogen Alliance," accessed September 28, 2021, https:// ec.europa.eu/growth/industry/policy/ european-clean-hydrogen-alliance\_en.

European Commission, "A Hydrogen Strategy for a Climate-Neutral Europe," COM/2020/301 final, July 10, 2020, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0301 &from=EN.

#### **Critical Raw Materials**

European Commission, "Critical Raw Materials Resilience: Charting a Path Towards Greater Security and Sustainability," COM/2020/474 final, September 3, 2020, https:// eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/ PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0474 &from=EN.

#### **European Green Deal**

European Commission, "The European Green Deal," European Commission, COM/2019/640 final, accessed April 19, 2021, https://www.eea.europa.eu/ policy-documents/com-2019-640-final.

#### **Farm to Fork**

European Commission, "A Farm to Fork Strategy for a Fair, Healthy and Environmentally-Friendly Food System," COM/2020/381 final, 2020, https:// eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/ PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0381 &from=EN.

#### Sustainable Agriculture

European Commission, "Working With Parliament and Council to Make the CAP Reform Fit for the European Green Deal," November 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/info/ sites/default/files/food-farming-fisheries/ key\_policies/documents/factsheet-cap-reform-to-fit-european-green-deal\_en.pdf.

#### Sustainable Investment

European Commission, "Sustainable Europe Investment Plan," COM/2020/21 final, January 14, 2020, https://eur-lex. europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/ PDF/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0021 &from=EN.

# **Appendix 2: Crude Oil Imports and Deliveries** in the European Union (EU28) in 2019

Region	Country of Origin	Volume (1,000 barrels)	Total Value (\$1,000)	CIF Price (2) (\$/barrell	Percent of Total Imports
Africa	Algeria	136,117	8,878,235	6,522,509,926	3.56
	Angola	52,238	3,483,967	6,669,363,075	1.37
	Cameroon	12,601	825,637	6,552,250,461	0.33
	Congo	2,775	163,375	588,737,045	0.07
	Congo (DR)	1,852	114,306	6,172,439,024	0.05
	Egypt	34,521	2,228,398	6,455,145,433	0.90
	Gabon	5,873	374,410	6,375,205,435	0.15
	Libya	246,860	16,100,623	6,522,175,414	6.46
	Nigeria	309,172	20,914,284	6,764,603,269	8.10
	Other African Countries	36,414	2,381,774	6,540,773,412	0.95
	Tunisia	3,939	253,107	6,425,649,517	0.10
Africa Sum:		842,362	55,718,114	6,614,506,225	22.06
America	Argentina	935	57866	6 190 922 124	0.02
America	Brazil	32,650	196/ 776	6 017 712 625	0.86
	Canada	31,265	2 001144	6,007,712,025	0.82
	Colombia	8 808	535 201	6 076 439 398	0.02
	Mexico	69.460	3 836 795	5 523 749 995	182
	Other Latin American	772	46 220	E 002 249 652	0.02
	countries	773	40,339	3,993,248,033	0.02
	United States	283,810	18,354,212	6,467,087,966	7.43
	Venezuela	33,924	1,742,459	5,136,399,097	0.89
America Sum:		461,624	28,538,792	6,182,257,239	12.09
Europe	Norway	396,160	25,954,325	6,551,482,081	10.37
	Other European countries	8,711	508,225	5,834,469,576	0.23
Europe Sum:		404,870	26,462,550	6,536,055,652	10.60
Former Soviet	Azerbaijan	163,506	11,104,764	6,791,641,087	4.28
	Kazakhstan	292,236	18,452,405	6,314,203,279	7.65
	Other FSU countries	21,909	1,438,688	6,566,526,277	0.57
	Russian Federation	969,918	61,683,032	6,359,610,475	25.40
	Ukraine	581	38,698	666,150,933	0.02
Former Soviet Union Sum:		1,448,152	92,717,586	6,402,478,149	37.92
Middle Fast	Iraq	333,618	20,410,547	6117936477	8 7/1
	Kuwait	38 515	2 394 222	6 216 416 407	101
	Saudi Arabia	287.829	18 395 509	6 39113/ 355	754
	Svria	107	6 765	6 322 429 907	0.00
	Yemen	1425	94 339	6 619 018 151	0.04
Middle Fast Sum:		661.493	41.301.383	6,243,656,704	17.32
World		3,818,502	244,738,424	6,409,278,567	100,

Source: European Commission, Directorate-General for Energy, "EU Crude Oil Imports and Supply Costs," accessed September 29, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/energy/data-analysis/eu-crude-oil-imports\_en?redir=1.

### Notes

- 1 European Commission, The European Green Deal (European Commission, COM/2019/640 final, 2019).
- 2 European Commission, "European Green Deal: Commission Proposes Transformation of EU Economy and Society to Meet Climate Ambitions," news release, July 14, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/ presscorner/detail/en/IP\_21\_3541.
- 3 Eurostat, "The 2017 Results of the International Comparison Program," news release, May 19, 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/portlet\_file\_entry/2995521/2-19052020-BP-EN.pdf/ bb14f7f9-fc26-8aa1-60d4-7c2b509dda8e.
- 4 Eurostat, "Africa-EU International Trade in Goods Statistics," https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ statistics-explained/index.php?title=Africa-EU\_\_international\_trade\_in\_goods\_statistics#Africa. E2.80.99s\_main\_trade\_in\_goods\_partner\_is\_the\_EU.
- 5 On FDI, see: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, *2021: Investing in Sustainable Recovery (New York: United Nations, 2021)* On trade, see: Eurostat, "Africa-EU International Trade in Goods Statistics."
- 6 Similarly, the EU's efforts to enforce due diligence systems will also affect some agricultural products (such as cocoa and coffee). In July 2021, the European Commission published a nonbinding due diligence guide-line to support EU businesses in addressing forced labor risks in their operations and supply chains. The European Parliament is working on a mandatory system to enforce human rights and environmental due diligence along the supply chain. European Commission, *Towards a Mandatory EU System of Due Diligence for Supply Chains*, October 2020, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2020/659299/EPRS\_BRI(2020)659299\_EN.pdf.
- 7 International Labour Organization, *Report on Employment in Africa (Re-Africa): Tackling the Youth Employment Challenge* (Geneva: International Labour Organization, 2018), 1.
- 8 European Commission, "Agri-Food Trade Statistical Factsheet," March 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/ default/files/food-farming-fisheries/farming/documents/agrifood-africa-all-countries\_en.pdf.
- 9 Examples of these food regulations include those on aflatoxins and other contaminants, flavorings, additives, and novel foods. Regulations on aflatoxins and other contaminants, for instance, set maximum levels to those that are achievable with good agricultural or fishery practices while also allowing for higher levels of aflatoxins after sorting and only if the items being imported are not intended for human consumption. For

flavorings, regulations state that only ingredients that are regarded as safe for human health by available scientific evidence—and that do not mislead consumers—can be added to food, while substances like agaric acid, aloin, and quassin, which do not meet the requirements, should never be added to foods. For additives, regulations state that aside from being safe for human health and not misleading to consumers, additives should be added to food only if there is a technological reason for them and if it has been proven that the need cannot be met by other means. Novel foods include those that have not been consumed in the EU prior to 1997 and those that are obtained from innovative production processes. https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/food-farming-fisheries/farming/documents/agrifood-africa-all-countries\_en.pdf.

- 10 European Commission, "Working With Parliament and Council to Make the CAP Reform Fit for the European Green Deal," November 2020, https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/food-farming-fisheries/ key\_policies/documents/factsheet-cap-reform-to-fit-european-green-deal\_en.pdf.
- 11 Lukas Kornher and Joachim von Braun, "EU Common Agricultural Policy—Impacts on Trade with Africa and African Agricultural Development," *SSRN Electronic Journal* (2020).
- 12 African Group of Negotiators Experts Support (AGNES), "Land Degradation and Climate Change in Africa" (Policy Brief No. 2, March 2020), https://agnes-africa.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Policybrief-2\_Land-Degradation\_Final\_09032020.pdf.
- 13 Comprehensive African Agricultural Development Program, African Union, accessed October 1, 2021, https://au.int/en/caadp.
- 14 Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services, *The Regional Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services for Africa* (Bonn, Germany: IPBES Secretariat, March 2018), http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3236178.
- 15 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, *Evaluation of the FAO Response to the Crisis in the Lake Chad Basin 2015–2018* (Rome: FAO Programme Evaluation Series, 2021).
- 16 Chris Lang, "The EU's NaturAfrica Must Avoid Colonialism in Conservation: Protected Areas Should Be Managed by Indigenous Peoples Themselves," REDD-Monitor, June 12, 2020, https:// redd-monitor.org/2020/06/12/the-eus-naturafrica-must-avoid-colonialism-in-conservation-protected-areas-should-be-managed-by-indigenous-peoples-themselves.
- 17 European Commission, "EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030: Bringing Nature Back into Our Lives," 2020, https://benoit-biteau.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/BDS-Leak-15052020.pdf.
- 18 Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Pan-African Action Agenda on Ecosystem Restoration for Increased Resilience, September 2018, https://www.cbd.int/doc/c/274b/80e7/34d341167178fe08effd0900/ cop-14-afr-hls-04-final-en.pdf.
- 19 Mark Leonard et al., "The Geopolitics of the European Green Deal," Bruegel, *Policy Contribution* 4, no. 21 (February 2021). https://www.bruegel.org/2021/02/the-geopolitics-of-the-european-green-deal.
- 20 European Commission, The European Green Deal, 6.
- 21 European Commission, The European Green Deal, 10ff.
- 22 African Union, *African Trade Statistics 2020 Yearbook*, August 2020, https://au.int/en/documents/20201118/ african-trade-statistics-2020-yearbook
- 23 Eliza Turner, "Refinery News Roundup: Maintenance Mostly Over in Africa," S&P Global Platts, April 9, 2021, https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/market-insights/latest-news/ oil/040921-refinery-news-roundup-maintenance-mostly-over-in-africa.
- 24 Katie McQue, "Middle East Oil Exporters Will See Lower Breakevens Even as Prices Stall: IMF," S&P Global Platts, April 11, 2021, https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/market-insights/latest-news/oil/041121middle-east-oil-exporters-will-see-lower-breakevens-even-as-prices-stall-imf; and Alex Kimani, "Deep Oil Cuts Put Africa at Serious Risk," OilPrice.com, March 1, 2021, https://oilprice.com/Energy/Crude-Oil/ Deep-Oil-Cuts-Put-Africa-At-Serious-Risk.html.
- 25 Daniel Workman, "Top 15 Crude Oil Suppliers to China," World's Top Exports, accessed October 1, 2021, https://www.worldstopexports.com/top-15-crude-oil-suppliers-to-china.

- 26 European Investment Bank, EIB Energy Lending Policy: Supporting the Energy Transformation, November 2019, https://www.eib.org/attachments/strategies/eib\_energy\_lending\_policy\_en.pdf.
- 27 Ron Bousso, "Shell to Step Up Energy Transition after Landmark Court Ruling," Reuters, June 9, 2021, https://www.reuters.com/business/sustainable-business/ shell-seek-ways-deepen-carbon-cuts-following-court-ruling-ceo-2021-06-09.
- 28 Julius Barigaba, "Eacop's Financing Blues as Lenders Desert \$3.5b Project," *East African*, May 4, 2021, https://www.theeastafrican.co.ke/tea/business/eacop-financing-blues-3385942.
- 29 Lisa Fischer and Jonathan Gaventa, "Why Decarbonising Gas Might Be Harder Than You Think," Energy Post, September 25, 2018, https://energypost.eu/decarbonising-gas-tips-for-policymakers.
- 30 International Energy Agency, Gas 2020, June 2020, https://www.iea.org/reports/gas-2020.
- 31 See: European Commission, "European Clean Hydrogen Alliance," accessed October 1, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/growth/industry/policy/european-clean-hydrogen-alliance\_en.
- 32 Johan van den Berg, Green Hydrogen—Fuelling Human Well-Being in Africa and Europe (AEEP policy brief 2020/01, September 2020), https://africa-eu-energy-partnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/AEEP-Green-Hydrogen-Policy-Brief-Publication-version-Final.pdf.
- 33 Moroccan Ministry of Energy, Mines, and Environment, "Green Hydrogen Initiative in the Context of the European Green Deal," accessed October 1, 2021, https://www.mem.gov.ma/Pages/ secteur.aspx?e=2&prj=7.
- 34 Jonathan Metcalfe, Le Riche Burger, and James Mackay, Unlocking South Africa's Hydrogen Potential, PwC Strategy&, October 2020, https://www.pwc.co.za/en/assets/pdf/unlocking-south-africas-hydrogenpotential.pdf.
- 35 German Federal Ministry of Education and Research, "H2Atlas-Africa—Atlas of Green Hydrogen Generation Potentials in Africa," June 2020, https://www.fona.de/medien/pdf/200831\_H2ATLAS-AFRICA\_-\_Atlas\_of\_Green\_Hydrogen\_Generation\_Potentials\_in\_Africa.pdf?m=1598886012&x.
- 36 International Energy Agency, *The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions* (Paris: IEA, May 2021), https://www.iea.org/reports/the-role-of-critical-minerals-in-clean-energy-transitions.
- 37 European Commission, Critical Raw Materials Resilience: Charting a Path towards Greater Security and Sustainability (European Commission, COM/2020/474 final, March 2020).
- 38 European Commission, Critical Raw Materials for Strategic Technologies and Sectors in the EU: A Foresight Study (Luxembourg: European Union, 2020), https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/42881.
- 39 World Bank, The Growing Role of Minerals and Metals for a Low Carbon Future (Washington, DC: World Bank, 2017), http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/207371500386458722/pdf/ 117581-WP-P159838-PUBLIC-ClimateSmartMiningJuly.pdf.
- 40 African Circular Economy Alliance, home page, http://www.aceaafrica.org.
- 41 European Commission, "Sustainable Europe Investment Plan: European Green Deal Investment Plan," COM/2020/21 final, January 2020, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52 020DC0021&from=EN.
- 42 Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, "Green Patents," accessed October 1, 2021, https://www.oecd.org/env/indicators-modelling-outlooks/green-patents.htm.
- 43 Stephanie Butcher, "Europe's Chance to Lead the Green Technology Race," *Financial Times*, March 31, 2021, https://www.ft.com/content/195bb547-8b01-4c99-a789-f77e8b779620.
- 44 Sören Amelang, "Germany's Siemens: A Case Study in Energiewende Industry Upheaval," Clean Energy Wire, April 23, 2018, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/factsheets/germanys-siemens-case-study-energiewende-industry-upheaval; Edgar Meza, "Thyssenkrupp Steel Under Increasing Pressure to Go Green," Clean Energy Wire, August 30, 2021, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/thyssenkrupp-steel-underincreasing-pressure-go-green; and Sören Amelang, "Start-up Sunfire's e-fuels Can Decarbonise Industries Most Addicted to Fossil Fuels," Clean Energy Wire, June 14, 2019, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/ start-sunfires-e-fuels-can-decarbonise-industries-most-addicted-fossil-fuels.

- 45 European Commission, "Research and Innovation for the European Green Deal," accessed October 1, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/info/research-and-innovation/strategy/strategy-2020-2024/environment-and-climate/ european-green-deal\_en; and European Commission, "Horizon Europe Boosts EU-Africa Cooperation in Research & Innovation," June 2021, https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/483efef5-cd83 -11eb-ac72-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-214473085.
- 46 European Commission, The European Green Deal, 15.
- 47 European Commission, "Sustainable Europe Investment Plan."
- 48 European Commission, "Towards a Comprehensive Strategy with Africa," March 9, 2020, https://ec.europa. eu/international-partnerships/system/files/communication-eu-africa-strategy-join-2020-4-final\_en.pdf.
- 49 Leo Holtz and Chris Heitzig, "Africa's Green Bond Market Trails Behind Other Regions," Brookings Institution, March 26, 2021, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2021/03/26/ africas-green-bond-market-trails-behind-other-regions.
- 50 European Commission, "EU Green Deal (Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism)," accessed October 1, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/ initiatives/12228-EU-Green-Deal-carbon-border-adjustment-mechanism-\_en.
- 51 A report from the European Parliament, for instance, explores this topic and discusses the potential ways in which the CBAM might fit with World Trade Organization rules. See Joost Pauwelyn and David Kleimann, "Trade Related Aspects of a Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism: A Legal Assessment," European Parliament Think Tank, April 14, 2020, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document. html?reference=EXPO\_BRI(2020)603502.
- 52 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, A European Union Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism: Implications for Developing Countries (Geneva: United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, July 2021), https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/osginf2021d2\_en.pdf.
- 53 South African Government, "Joint Statement Issued at the Conclusion of the 30th BASIC Ministerial Meeting on Climate Change Hosted by India on 8th April 2021," April 8, 2021, https://www.gov.za/nr/ speeches/joint-statement-issued-conclusion-30th-basic-ministerial-meeting-climate-change-hosted.
- 54 European Commission, "Neighbourhood, Development and International Cooperation Instrument (NDICI)—'Global Europe," June 9, 2021, https://euneighbours.eu/sites/default/files/publications/2021-06/ factsheet-global-europe-ndici-june-2021\_en.pdf.
- 55 European Commission, "International Climate Finance," accessed October 1, 2021, https://ec.europa.eu/ clima/policies/international/finance\_en#tab-0-0.
- 56 Aljazeera, "Madagascar on the Brink of First Climate-Induced Famine, UN Warns," September 3, 2021, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/9/3/madagascar-is-on-brink-of-first-climate-induced-famine-un-warns
- 57 European Commission, "Towards a Comprehensive Strategy with Africa."
- 58 https://www.un.org/ldcportal/gcca-programmes-on-climate-change/

## **Carnegie Endowment for International Peace**

The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace is a unique global network of policy research centers in Russia, China, Europe, the Middle East, India, and the United States. Our mission, dating back more than a century, is to advance peace through analysis and development of fresh policy ideas and direct engagement and collaboration with decision-makers in government, business, and civil society. Working together, our centers bring the inestimable benefit of multiple national viewpoints to bilateral, regional, and global issues.

#### **Africa Program**

The Carnegie Africa Program, based in Washington, provides analysis and insights on the economic, political, technological, and transnational issues shaping Africa's future.



CarnegieEndowment.org